
876th meeting

Thursday, 14 July 1955,
af 3 p.m.

PALAIS DES NATIONS, GENEVA

E/SR.876

of interest in developing friendly relations among nations
and in maintaining and strengthening world peace.
2. In his delegation's view the Council should bear
those events constantly in mind and should give its
active support to all developments which might help to
bring about the establishment, broadening and streng
thening of friendly relations among nations. It was
convinced that the various-and often complex-difficul
ties, due to objective as well as subjective factors, could
be overcome by goodwill and that the present session
could represent a further step in intensifying and extend
ing international relations in the economic and social
fields and so contribute to a solution of existing inter
national political problems. The peace policy which
was constantly pursued by the Czechoslovak Govern
ment sought to bring about the normalization of inter
national relations as a prerequisite to the development of
naturally advantageous economic and cultural relations
among the peoples on the basis of full respect for the
independence and sovereignty of individual countries.
3. His delegation appreciated the efforts of the Secre
tariat in submitting the considerable amount of documen
tation which was before the Council. The Secretariat
was in principle correct in confining itself to the technical
task of collecting and analysing economic data, and in not
attempting to put forward any recommendations-since
that was the responsibility of the Council itself. That
approach could, however, result in the influence of certain
factors which were decisive from one or other point of
view being concealed or disregarded. The influence of
certain economic factors differed according to the
economic structure of the various regions or countries,
and that must be taken into account if ways and means
were to be found of increasing economic co-operation
between them.
4. In the light of all the information available it was
clear that 1954 had been to some extent a year of eco
nomic recovery for the industrially developed countries
with private enterprise economies. The recovery, how
ever, had not been of such a nature as to mark a more
lasting and uninterrupted upward trend. Its charac
teristic features had been the growing disproportion
between the various sectors of industry in the principal
countries, the considerable militarization of the economy,
the generally slow recovery of world trade and, finally,
the intensified competition among the principal industrial
and exporting countries.
5. Cost-of-living and employment data showed that
there was no justification for the view that militarization
of the economy was an essential stimulus to economic
activity or that it could provide a sound basis on which
to ensure all-round development of all sectors of the
national economy. On the contrary, it was bound to

83

83

Page

OFFICIAL REOORDS

Twentieth Session

UNITED NATIONS

ECONOMIC AN D SOCIAL COUNCIL

Agenda item 2:

World economic situation (continued)

CONTENTS

AGENDA ITEM 2

President: Sir Douglas COPLAND (Australia).

Present:
The representatives of the following countries:

Argentina, Australia, China, Czechoslovakia, Dominican
Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, France, India, Netherlands,
Norway, Pakistan, Turkey, Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics, United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Northern Ireland, United States of America, Venezuela,
Yugoslavia.

Observers from the following Member States: Brazil,
Indonesia, Mexico.

Observers from the following non-member States:
Bulgaria, Federal Republic of Germany, Hungary,
Switzerland.

The representatives of the following specialized
agencies: International Labour Organisation, Food and
Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Inter
national Bank for Reconstruction and Development,
International Monetary Fund, World Health Organiza
tion.

World economic situation (Ef2674, Ef2684, Ef2706,
Ef2712, Ef2726 and Add.1 to 5, Ef2729, Ef2737,
Ef2738, Ef2739, Ef2740, Ef2756, Ef2771, Ef2772
and Add.l, EfCN.12f359, EfCN.12fAC.25f5, Ef
ECEf194, EfL.634, EfL.676, MEf284f55, MEf285f
55) (continued)

1. Mr. NOSEK (Czechoslovakia) said that, as the Soviet
Union and other representatives had pointed out, the
international political circumstances in which the present
session of the Council was taking place were much more
auspicious than in previous years. Among recent events
which had contributed to bringing about favourable
conditions for a further relaxation of international tension
and an improvement of mutual relations among nations
were the historic Bandoeng Conference of 29 Asian and
African nations; the proposal made by the Government
of the Soviet Union on 10 May concerning the reduction
of armaments, the prohibition of atomic weapons and
the removal of the danger of a new war; the signing of
the Austrian peace treaty; and the joint declaration
of the Soviet Union and Yugoslav Governments. The
recent talks which the Prime Minister of India had had
with Czechoslovak representatives during his visit to
Prague had also confirmed the two countries' identity

I'" V(.II)'V



obsta
nor l

that·
ted.
-an)
page
was 1

count
discU!
ment
and
econo

17. (
intern
of reI
exper1
comm
fully
IECE)
adopt,
methc
Thq
tioned
[E/26~

resolu
Franc,
cighte

18. ]
deve1c
relatic
counb
tries, •
Czechl
lor in
the su

16. ]
in thl
surve:
1954 I
and e(
social
relati1
which
ments
was a
in eac
and iJ
circun
the in
the p;
natior

15. '
Social

, Polan
Germ:
Repul
partnl

long-t
princi
econo
Yugoi

lll-

amounted to 32.9 per cent of the total budget-7.4per
cent more than in the previous year. .
11. The national economies of the other people's demo.
cracies also showed an uninterrupted upward trend.
In 1954 they had all fulfilled or even slightly exceeded
the planned targets of industrial. rroduction and, de·
spite unfavourable weather condltIons and a shortage
of manpower, had also increased their agricultural pro
duction, either as a whole or in individual branches. I

Unemployment had been eliminated everywhere; and
employment and real wages were rising each year.
12. Different passages on pages 46 to 52 of the World
Economic Report 1953-54 (Ej2729) referred to a supposed
double change in economic planning in the people's
democracies. He wished to emphasize that in Czecho
slovakia, as in the other people's democracies, a policy
of planned development of the entire national economy
was pursued with preferential development of heavy
industry as a necessary basis for the development of light
industry and agriculture. In the course of that develop
ment certain temporary sectoral disproportions might
arise, owing to either objective or subjective causes.
Those disproportions were gradually being removed
in a planned manner-without, however, any change
of policy in a general sense.
13. Economic expansion in the people's democracies
made possible an increasing development, on the basis
of equality and mutual advantage, of lasting economic
and trade relations with all countries, including the eco
nomically developing countries, with whom Czecho
slovakia, for example, had increased its trade by 55 per
cent in 1954 as compared with 1953. The natural
and sound foundations of the Czechoslovak economy
could provide a reliable and permanently growing market
for practically all the products of the economically less
developed countries. In exchange for their prodUcts
Czechoslovakia could supply increasing quantities of
the machinery and equipment that they needed for
their economic development, and for complex industria
lization in particular. Czechoslovakia was aware of
the importance of ensuring a steady market, stable
prices and financial means for the development of the
economically less developed countries. It had therefore i

adopted the principle of adjusting its economy and trade
relations with those countries by means of suitable long
term and similar measures to limit the harmful effects
of fluctuation. Czechoslovakia had also proved its wil
lingness to make the technical knowledge of Czecho
slovak industry available to countries that had started
out on the road of economic development, both in the
United Nations Technical Assistance Programme and
by means of bilateral agreements.
14. Thanks mainly to his country's efforts, which w~re
based on the principle of mutual co-existence of countnes
with different social systems and the possibilities of
mutual economic co-operation, there had also b~e~,
since 1953, some improvement in CzechoslovaklU S \

economic and trade relations with the industrially deve
loped countries with private enterprise economies, which
had been applying a policy of discrimination towards
Czechoslovakia since 1948-49. A substantial develop
ment of economic and trade relations however, was still
impeded by the policy of discriminati~n and by artificial

Economic and Social Council - Twentieth Session
84

lead sooner or later to a decline in production for civilian
purposes and to lower standards of living for the popula
tion. Moreover, it meant that fewer resources were
available for rendering economic assistance to the
economically less developed countrie~, which we~e al~o
those mainly affected by the resultmg fluctuation m
world commodity prices.
6. Czechoslovakia was convinced that a further broaden
ing and intensification of economic co-operation and trade
relations among countries with different social systems,
accompanied by a reduction of arma~ents and an
expansion of the peace sectors of the natlOnal ec?nomy,
was one of the most effective means of developmg the
world economy-including an even speedier develop
ment of industrially less developed countries-with a
view to improving general living conditions.
7. During 1954 the planned expansion of the
Czechoslovak national economy had continued. Indus
trial output had risen by 4.4 per cent as compared with
1953. The output of the coal industry had risen by
8.6 per cent and that of power plants by 10 per cent.
The development of heavy industry as a whole, with
particular emphasis on rapid development of the fuel,
power and ore sectors, was again stressed in the plan
for 1955. Thus the necessary basis would be laid for
further development of light industry and increased
production of consumer goods.
8. Agricultural production, on the other hand, though
it had risen by 14 per cent during the five-year plan,
was still lagging behind industry. The development of
industrial production, as well as the constant rise in the
real value of wages and salaries, laid heavy demands on
agricultural production. Industrialization, however, at
the same time made possible an increase in agricultural
yields and the extensive utilization of all arable land,
and the Government was devoting very considerable
technical, material and financial resources to that end.
The results achieved by the Unified Agricultural Co
operatives were proof of the effective assistance that the
Government rendered. During 1954 alone the income
per hectare of the Unified Agricultural Co-operatives
-already firmly established in 47 per cent of all villages,
where they farmed a total area of 1,900,000 hectares
had risen by 26 per cent. The Government had also
established a wide network of well-equipped tractor
stations. Thus it would be possible gradually to make
up the lag in agricultural production.
9. As a result of the rapid growth of national income
and its judicious distribution, personal consumption
had risen by 23.5 per cent during the first five-year plan,
and by a further 15.5 per cent in 1954. Thanks to the
reduction in prices and the increase in average wages
the real wages of workers had risen by 20 per cent in 1954.
Social consumption had also risen substantially, as had
already been mentioned during the discussion of item 3.
10. The State budget for 1955 was an instrument for
further developing the national economy and raising the
standard of living. 5.9 per cent more than in 1954 was
being spent on development of the national economy
the ligure for agriculture being 20.4 per cent or 100 per
cent more than in 1952. 91 per cent more was being
spent on the mechanization of agriculture than in 1954.
Expenditure on cultural, health and social services



876th Meeting - 14 July 19551','"

• r 1
~;

I

budget-7J[l1'

r people's dellii,
,upward trenl

lightly exeeel~l
uction and, l!:i
a~d a shorla~j

agncultural ~II

vidual brancu&
:verywhere; alii
ng each year,' i

52 of the WOIii
e,d to a suppo~:

m the peopli!
that in Czec~

xracies, apoliG
lational eeonorn;
pment of heal;
'elopment ofli!l!
~ of that develo!'
roportions mi!l!
.tbjective eao~

being remoY~:

vcr, any chaoi

lie's demoera&.
cnt, on the blli
lasting eeono~,

nc1uding the ~
, whom CzC(t,'
; trade by 55 ~'
)3. The nal~(

oslovak eeono~

y growing mart'
economically 10

lr their produro
ng quantities i
they needed Iv

omplex indushil
a was aware ['
y market, sta1,
velopment 01 ili
It had thereloo

conomy and (rnl
s of suitable lor.[
le harmful effl:',
so proved its i\
'ledge of Cw~:
s that had start!
nent both in Ik, ,

Programme lIi

~fiorts, whieh 11;
stence of eounlr!
le possibilities r
~ had also ~

Czechoslova1u
industrially O!~

~ economies, wM'
imination towar:
bstantial devel!:
however, was!t

ill and by arti~r.

obstacles. The Report said that it was neither possible
nor useful to study such impediments, on the ground
that they were politically and not economically motiva
ted, His delegation could not agree with that statement
-any more than it could agree with the assertion on
page 8 of the Report that the policy of discrimination
was not aimed at any par,ticular country or group of
countries. In his delegation's view it was essential to
discuss a policy which seriously impeded the develop
ment of mutual economic relations among nations
and also the development of individual countries'
economies.

15, Trade between Czechoslovakia, the Union of Soviet
Socialist Republics, the People's Republic of China,
Poland, Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, Albania, the
German Democratic Republic and the Mongolian People's
Republic was based on the principle of equality of
partners and on that of mutual advantages embodied in
long-term agreements for economic co-operation. Similar
principles had been applied in reviving mutually beneficial
economic and trade relations between Czechoslovakia and
Yugoslavia.

16. In general, his delegation agreed with what was said
in the Report and the regional commissions' economic
surveys, particularly the Economic Survey of Europe in
1954 (E/ECE/194), concerning questions of foreign trade
and economic co-operation among countries with different
social systems. With regard to the question of the
relative merits of bilateralism and multilateralism, to
which considerable attention was given in those docu
ments, his delegation's view was that neither method
was a priori preferable and that the choice between them
in each particular case depended solely on which of them,
and in what concrete form, provided, in the particular
circumstances, the most suitable instrument for increasing
the international exchange of goods in the interest of all
the parties concerned and for ensuring the best inter
national division of labour.

17. One of the best ways of intensifying and expanding
international economic and trade relations was by means
of regional and inter-regional trade consultations of
experts within the framework of the regional economic
commissions. That method had already been success
fully tried in the Economic Commission for Europe
(ECE), which, at its tenth session, had unanimously
adopted a resolution recognizing the usefulness of the
method and its applicability to inter-regional trade.
The proved advantages of the method were also men
tioned in the Secretary-General's report on the subject
(E/2674), which had been prepared on the basis of a
resolution submitted jointly by the delegations of
France, Belgium and Czechoslovakia at the Council's
eighteenth session and unanimously adopted.

18, In view of the urgent need for positive measures to
develop international economic co-operation and trade
relations and in view of the responsibility shared by all
cO,untries, and especially by industrially developed coun
tnes, for solving problems of economic development, the
Czechoslovak delegation was convinced that the proposal
for inter-regional trade consultations would meet with
the support of all delegations.

85

19. He paid a tribute to the work of ECE, in which
Czechoslovakia took an active part. That work had
m~de it possible to exchange valuable experience and
bnng about some expansion of economic and trade rela
tions among all countries members of the Commission.
There was no doubt that ECE could contribute to a
further intensification of economic and trade relations
among all European countries, and thus to a general
easing of international tension in Europe and the estab
lishment of an atmosphere of mutual confidence. It was
therefore abnormal that some European countries which
had already taken an active part in the Commission's
work for a number of years were not yet members of the
Commission with equal rights. His delegation 'regarded
as fully justified the request for Bulgaria, Hungary,
Romania and Albania to be admitted to ECE with full
rights. That would moreover help to increase the Com
mission's authority as an all-European co-ordinating
economic body.
20. Czechoslovakia also followed with great interest the
work of the other regional commissions and had sent
observers to a number of meetings of the Economic Com
mission for Asia and the Far East. Czechoslovakia par
ticularly considered it abnormal that the greatest Asian
power, the People's Republic of China, had not yet been
allowed to participate in that Commission's work.
21. In conclusion, he again emphasized that in his
Government's view the development of international
economic co-operation in accordance with the directives
which had been given to the Economic and Social Council
in the United Nations Charter would promote the
development of world economy as a whole and of the
economies of the individual countries. That, in turn,
would doubtless help to bring about a relaxation of
international tension and to develop peaceful relations
among nations. The Czechoslovak delegation was con
vinced that if the Economic and Social Council
approached all the problems with which it was at present
faced in an atmosphere of mutual confidence and under
standing, and with all the sense of solemn responsibility
they deserved, it could successfully settle them.

22. Mr. Said HASAN (Pakistan), referring to the
three categories into which the World Economic Report
divided the countries of the world-developed, under
developed and those with centrally planned economies
pointed out that some of the last-named had also been
under-developed in the not too remote past, but had
broken through the strangling grip of orthodox financial
methods, had set whole nations to work and had thus
accelerated the pace of their development. In fact,
so seductive had been their example that a number of the
still under-developed countries were at present endeavour
ing to emulate their methods by formulating national
plans of economic development for a number of years
ahead and, as a necessary corollary, introducing central
control of capital flotation, of imports and consequently,
though a little indirectly, of consumption, The under
developed countries to which he referred did, however,
place great value on private enterprise and private
trade; and the regulation of their economies was not
inspired by ideological considerations, but by necessity
springing from their shortage of resources, particu
larly foreign exchange.



IV

tI
\V

01
m
le
al
It
or
th
lh
h2
su

Inv

1nl
an(

i
i

I I

::. G,n,,~ly 'peaking, th' :::~:: ~::I:::a~:un:n:d:~::: :,::::~ntative had pomt'd out, tho~ 1\
a most valuable document, perhaps the best report of reserves were not inexhaustible and, if a balance at an .
its kind so far produced. Its excellence was evidence ever higher level was to be achieved, the resources-and
of the Secretary-General's personal interest in the eco- therefore the productive capacity-of the under-deve-
nomic affairs of the world. The viewpoint adopted, loped countries must rise in proportion. In their desire
however, was still too much that of the more advanced for development, the under-developed countries were at
countries. Pakistan, for example, a country of 76 million present paying a very high price, denying themselves
inhabitants, with serious and complex economic problems, all comforts and even many necessities of life. Many of
received no more than a few passing references. Moreover, them were still obliged to maintain restrictions against
the Report did not go to the root of the economically imports from the dollar area. Moreover, although Euro-
under-developed countries' problems, but merely men- pean capital had played a great part in the development
tioned a few well-known symptoms. It was a common- of the United States of America, and although western
place to consider the economic problem of the under- Europe in turn had been rehabilitated with United States
developed countries as one whose solution lay principally aid, there had been little import of foreign capital into
in making available financial resources, particularly Asian countries, despite the very liberal concessions
foreign exchange. Those countries had, however, a very which many of them, including Pakistan, had offered-
large pool of unemployed or under-employed manpower, such, for example, as full repatriation of profits and
which could be used on many different types of project capital, treatment on a par with nationals, and the like.
requiring little foreign exchange, such as the building
of houses or the construction of country roads, canals and 26. In that connexion he pointed out that the Report
many kinds of irrigation works. Such a non-financial was wrong in suggesting, on page 12, that government
or .. physical" approach to development needed a guarantees for foreign investments were neither possible
detailed economic study, since increased employment for nor appropriate in present-day circumstances. Pakistan
the under-employed and unemployed would, for example, had recently signed an agreement with the United States
increase the demand for goods and thus affect the which would enable the United States Government to
monetary sector. The organizational and other steps give the necessary guarantees to United States citizens
which were required to deal with such problems should be investing in Pakistan. That was another example of the
studied, although he did not, of course, mean to suggest genuine desire of the great American people to help the
that they could be studied in the Report. under-developed countries. Their assistance to Asia had

been generous, even though it represented but a very
24. The most significant aspect of the economic life small proportion of what Europe had received. Pakistan
of the under-developed countries was their current effort was grateful for United States aid, which helped his
to develop themselves and the results of that effort. To country substantially in carrying out its programme of
a large extent, the effort centred on what might be called national development. Pakistan had also received very
basic development-in other words irrigation, production considerable assistance under the Colombo Plan. Its
of power and provision of cognate services. Those were own investments in development over the past four years
generally long-term projects, but they needed heavy had, however, amounted to six times the total amount
investments, particularly of foreign exchange. For that of the aid it had received; and, as he had already stressed,
reason, internal measures were needed to restrict con- that had entailed heavy sacrifices.
sumption and canalize investment into the more impor-
tant sectors. Contrary, however, to what was said on 27. The current six-year programme was to be followed
page 6 of the Report, internal measures were no substitute by a five-year programme, which was under preparation.
for import controls, which were essential in order to save The main emphasis so far had inevitably been on basic
foreign exchange as well as to protect the new industries developments, such as hydro-electric and other power
that had been established. The Report was also mistaken proj ects and irrigation, and to a smaller extent on essential
in suggesting that restrictions on the import of luxury consumer industries such as textiles. It was perhaps
goods sometimes led to the establishment of luxury inevitable too that a certain amount of unbalanced
industries in the under-developed countries themselves growth should have taken place. The concept of
-for controls on capital issues and imports combined to balanced growth, however, must be applied over a long 32
make that impossible. term. He was inclined to disagree with the example of

all
25. The Report also envisaged the possibility that the unbalanced growth cited on page 15 of the Report. It an
industrialization of under-developed countries would was impossible for a newly developing country to expand Ci2

affect the economy of the advanced countries. The same in all sectors at once. Provided that there was an over-all to
misgiving had been mentioned at the time when the integrated plan of development, the timing for the Jig
Colombo Plan had first been formulated. The answer establishment of principal and subsidiary industries as!
surely was that, with the development of the backward was possibly of secondary importance. tra
areas of the world, levels of living would rise, demands 28. The financial resources required to promote economic 3
would increase, trade would develop and in general the development at a rate sufficient to provide employment I i:'
international economy would reach a much higher level. for the annual increment in the labour force-and at the
So-called structural changes in industry had already same time to raise the present low standards of living- ~~
been completed in most of the Western countries. In far exceeded his country's available domestic resources, Pn
fact, the imports of the under-developed countries during particularly since there was ~l considerable time-lag
1953 and 1954 had exceeded their exports, and many of before development projects bore fruit. The con-
them had had to draw on their external reserves. As the sumption standards of the people at large had in fact been



876th Meeting - 14 July 1955

ted out, tho~

balance at an
:esources.....anu ;
le under-deve.lr,
In ~heir d\S~ ~
IIItnes were a\ ii,
ng themselv~~,
:if~. Many 01 If
'lehons againll
3.lthough Eur~

le developmenl '!

hough western'r
1 United Stat~
gn capital inl~ )
~al concessiorn
. had offered~

of profits an~;

s, and thelikd

hat the Repot!)
.at governmenl i
1either possiolf
Ices. Pakistan
e United Stal6 i:

Government t~1
States citizem!
example of ilif!
,pIe to help til !

nce to Asia naJ

ted but a ve~;

ved. PakistanI
lieh helped o!!
, programme ~Il

o received ve~!

ubo Plan, Hi;
pastfouryelll
e total amounl
Jready stresscl,

s to be follO\\~!
:ler preparatiol
y been on ball
Id other pOWft
tent on essenul
It was perba~

of unbalanwl
he concept 01

lied over alonl
the exampled
the Report, 11

llntry to expanl'
e was an over·~
timing for (ni'

:liary indus(ri~i

'omote economi
ide employmen:
lrce-and atlli

lards of livin!'
nestic resourc~

lerable time·lf
'uit. The COl

had in faclll1i!

reduced to the lowest possible level compatible with the
country's stability. However, hard times made strong
nations, and he was proud of his compatriots, who were
suffering every conceivable hardship in order to make
their country worth living in.

29. Turning to the European countries, he was glad
that the much feared recession in the United States
had not seriously affected either their production or
their trade. The Netherlands representative had re
ferred with justifiable pride to the co-operation between
those countries and indeed the existence of a common
European outlook facilitated the pursuit of common
objectives. In Asia, where no such common outlook
existed, the task of co-ordination and joint economic
activity was proportionately less easy.

30. The world had now reached a stage in scientific
advance when vast, almost. thrilling, possibilities of
achieving rapid economic development had been unfolded
by the revolutionary discovery of atomic power. The
initiative taken by the President of the United States
in focusing world attention on the role of atomic energy
for peaceful constructive purposes, and in promoting
and sharing knowledge of that scientific miracle, might
well result in a social and economic transformation in
the under-developed countries within a period which
would have appeared impossible a short time ago. If
the potentialities of nuclear energy to annihilate mankind
were almost infinite, so must be its capacity to contri
bute to mankind's happiness and welfare. The hopes
of all mankind followed the United States and other coun
tries in their efforts to direct nuclear power to the task
of peaceful advancement.

31. In conclusion, he would point out that the back
wardness, ignorance, illiteracy and poverty from which
the peoples of the under-developed countries suffered
were not of their own making. They were a heritage
of misery from the days of political servitude and econo
mic exploitation. Such peoples were now struggling
to ensure that generations to come should enjoy a fuller
and better life than had been vouchsafed to them.
It had been said that the sins of the fathers were visited
on their children and on their children's children unto
the third and fourth generation. It was to be hoped
that the sufferings of innumerable bygone generations
had expiated the sins from which the world was still
SUffering.

32. Mr. MENEMENCIOGLU (Turkey) said that,
although he disagreed with many of the Secretariat's
analyses and interpretations, he wished to express appre
ciation of the excellent and useful documents submitted
to the Council. They were in part concerned with facts,
figures and general tendencies, and in part with an
assessment of the situation, particularly in the fi.eld of
trade.

?3. The general picture of the world economic situation
m 1954 had continued to be very encouraging and the
achievements of western Europe and some under-deve
loped countries during the period had been impressive.
~roduction and employment had continued to rise and
mvestments had been maintained at a high level. The
total value of world trade had been higher than in 1953,
and in many areas considerable progress towards a better

87

equilibrium in trade movements had taken place
together with an improvement in the sphere of payments.
The rise in per capita income and real wages had been
almost general.

34. The most spectacular gains had been made by
western Europe, which had been able not only to main
tain .its position, but also to make significant advances,
despIte the United States recession. Some of the reasons
for ~hat given by the World Economic Report were
cautIous-as, for example, when it pointed out that the
United States Government's grants, investments and
expenditures abroad continued to help to reduce the
dollar shortage. Indeed, if the flow of dollars had
stopped at a period when the United States was reducing
its imports, the result might have been serious. Other
explanations given were of a more optimistic character.
For instance, it was noted on page 11 that" Europe was
far better organized economically in 1953 than it had
been in 1949"; also that" As production expanded in
many parts of the world it became less necessary to rely
on supplies from dollar areas. Larger supplies of pro
ducts from non-dollar sources were becoming available
to the non-dollar world-for example, there was a
marked growth in Middle East oil production." Apart
from that example having been badly chosen, for it
might be understood to mean that oil could be paid for
in the local currency of the producing countries-which
was of course not the case-the statement itself was
unfortunately only partly correct. Though many non
dollar countries had recently made considerable progress
in the production of so-called dollar raw materials,
western Europe did not seem to be making a conscious
effort to increase or maintain its imports from such new
sources, which were its natural and traditional markets.
In fact, far from that having been the case, the most
characteristic feature of the years 1953 and 1.954 had
been the complete liberalization of raw material imports
from the dollar area in many European countries and the
relaxation of restrictions on the same imports for the
remaining countries. That liberalization was of course a
healthy development; but the time factor was of para
mount importance, because such measures could have
dislocating effects when abrupt and too general. It so
happened that during the preceding period western
Europe had been suffering from an acute dollar shortage;
consequently export prices of non-dollar raw materials
had remained relatively high owing to competitive
bidding by western European buyers. When the dollar
shortage had become less acute and dollar imports had
been liberalized, some areas had met with difficulties.
An appreciable expansion in world trade would largely
depend on western Europe's turning its attention to new
areas of supply, which were also its traditional customers.
As stated on page 142 of the Report, the primary pro
ducing countries had been left in 1954 with an over-all
trade deficit of $1.1 billion-which was $500 million
greater than in 1953. Thus, increased purchases by
western Europe from such countries had not sufficed
to allow them to increase their imports.

35. Although the statement on page 11 of the Report
that "the ability of Europe to compete successfully in
world markets was growing as productivity increased
with plant modernization and lower costs" was correct



...
rt Hl

'"
,~ , " •

88 Economic and Social Council - Twentieth Session

and very important, it should be put forward with the
greatest caution as an explanation of why western
Europe had been able to make impressive strides during
1954 despite the United States recession-lest it lead to
misinterpretation and unduly optimistic conclusions.

36. International trade and world economy would bene
fit from a substantial increase in production and produc
tivity in western Europe; but a change in the pattern
of production, particularly of exports, was equally impor
tant. There was a definite trend towards closer contacts
with traditional export markets and towards greater
understanding of the difficulties of buyers and potential
buyers-as well as some readiness to grant short and
medium-term credit facilities for capital goods. Above
all, greater adaptability to changing conditions was
evident. Naturally there was room for further advance
in that direction; but even such beginnings as he had
outlined were generally beneficial, and he would quote as
an example the significant improvement in the internal
economy and export capacity of France during the past
two years-which his country had had some opportunity
of observing for itself.
37. Although commercial relations between France and
Turkey were of long standing, they had for technical
reasons never been extensive; and up to the end of 1952
France had exported mostly consumer goods and had
shown no marked inclination to export capital goods.
Though Turkey continued to maintain a very high level
of investment in industry and public works, the share of
France in Turkish trade had remained relatively small
until a great change had taken place when French en
gineers, technicians and businessmen began to establish
closer contact with Turkey and to join in the submission
of competitive tenders for construction contracts. In
1953 and 1954 they had in several cases been successful.
38. His delegation considered that the increased import
capacity of many traditional trading partners of western
Europe had been a major factor in the general improve
ment in the economic situation during the past two years.
Although the expansion of trade between the western
Eu::opean cou~tries themselves was very encouraging,
major. ec~nomlc factors could not be measured in solely
quantItatIve terms. Even a moderate improvement in
the exports of these countries to the primary producer
countries, as well as in the terms of trade, could largely
explain the greater prosperity of western Europe. That
pomt had perhaps not received sufficient attention in the
Report, and had not even been mentioned as oue of the
possible reasons for western Europe having better with
stood the United States recession in 1953 and 1954 than
in 1949. The Report also failed to bring out that, if
western Europe had exported less to the rest of the world
during 1954, when its exports to the United States were
declining, it might not have been possible to avert a
general crisis. It was also imperative to note that in
1954 many of western Europe's trading partners had
been. better. equipped to fill the gap created by the re
ductlOn of Imports by the United States. The reasons
for those countries having a greater import capacity were
as follows: first, their purchasing power had been less
~ffected by.the decline in United States imports than
It. had been m 19119; and secondly, United States grants,
aId programmes and other overseas expenditures had

continued, and the under-developed countries llad re
ceived a greater share than in 1949. They had also
benefited from the Colombo Plan, from overseas expen
diture by the French Government and from other
regional programmes. Finally, considerable economic
development by means of large-scale investment pro
grammes had been achieved-even though at the price
of reducing reserves to a dangerous level.
39. He fully shared the Australian representative's view
that a high level of investment in all countries was neces
sary for an expansion of international trade and greater
economic well-being, and he was convinced that the
Council should give far closer attention to that need at
the present stage. To illustrate this point, he would
give a brief account of major developments in his own
country. In that connexion he welcomed the opportu
nityof congratulating the Secretariat on the excellent and
comprehensive report entitled Economic Developments in
the Middle East, 1945 to 1954 (Ej2740).
40. During the period covered by this latter report,
Turkey had made heavy investments for economic and
social development, partiCUlarly from 1950 onwards.
Significant results had been obtained in the mechaniza
tion of agriculture; and agricultural production had more
than doubled. Enormous strides had been made in
mining, as well as in industrial production-though
most new industrial plant was still in process of construc
tion. The Government had taken the lead in investing
in a vast programme of public works. The result of
these developments had been that the quantum of
Turkish imports had increased by 400 per cent between
1945 and 1954, as compared with the pre-war period
and by 200 per cent during the last four years.
41. With regard to the factors tending to limit the
expansion of international trade, although the introduc
tion to the World Economic Report, and the report
entitled The Quest for Freer Trade (Ej2737) contained
useful information on administrative controls and
measures for removing them, the Secretariat seemed
to have approached the problem from rather too formal
and administrative an angle, to the detriment of basic
and decisive economic factors. For instance, the World
Economic Report stressed the effect of the United States
recession on international trade, but surely nobody
would argue that controls or relaxation of controls had
been of decisive importance in that recession.

42. If it was true that the increased capacity of many
countries to absorb industrial goods was beneficial to
world trade, and that their large-scale investment policy
had been a major cause of expansion in world trade,
then in seeking to bring about further expansion it was
necessary to consider how their import capacity could be
still further increased through the maintenance of a
high level of investment. It was important in the
first place to remember the need for better adjustment
in the import policies of the highly industrialized coun
tries. That was a very intricate problem witb which
he did not propose to deal in detail, though he would
point out that it had two aspects. First, as the French
representative had observed, industrialized countries
should not seek to protect all their agricultural products.
However, it was significant that even in those countries
where full support of the principle of multilateral trade



876th Meeting - 14 July 1955 89

I

I
I,
I

d
cl
11
i,
IJ
tl
ly
Id

~n!

was proclaimed, liberalization of the agricultural sector
lagged far behind. Secondly, industrialized countries
must adapt their import policies in such a manner as to
maintain the purchasing power of their natural and
traditional customers.

43. He would also stress the importance of expanding
medium-term credit facilities, which were now being
increasingly provided for the export of capital and
investment goods. The development of special institu
tions for that purpose in the United Kingdom, France,
the Federal Republic of Germany, Austria and other
countries, as well as the efforts made at a regional level
by the Export-Import Bank of the United States, had
already been highly beneficial to many countries in the
process of economic development. Further progress on
those lines was essential.
44. More attention had been given by the Council to
this third way of sustaining a high import capacity of the
trading partners of industrialized countries; but no
progress had been accomplished in stimUlating the flow of
international capital, which was a key factor in determin
ing the rate of development and achieving higher stan
dards of living. It was regrettable that so little had
been done, despite the general agreement on that point
and its vital interest for the future prosperity and
economic well-being of the whole world.

45. In conclusion, he viewed the general improvement
in the world economic situation during 1954 with optim
ism and saw in it the beginnings of a number of bene
ficial trends which he was confident would continue.
As prosperity increased, the solution of some economic
problems might prove easier than expected. With these
considerations in mind, his delegation, together with
the United Kingdom delegation, had submitted a draft
resolution (EjL,676) which he hoped would be examined
in detail by the Economic Committee.

46. Mr. COORE (Argentina) said that the reason why
representatives had occasionally been obliged to post
pone their participation in the debate, despite the laud
able efforts of the President to speed up the discussion
on the world economic situation, was that the documents
were frequently circulated too late to allow the competent
national administrations and government representatives
sufficient time to study them with all the attention they
deserved. That was the case time and time again
particularly with documents in Spanish, which after all
were wanted by nineteen out of the sixty Members of
the United Nations. He was not criticizing, but merely
making a constructive observation in the hope that in
future every effort would be made to improve matters and
thus simplify the task of Council members. At the same
time he would like to pay a tribute to the Secretary
General for his active interest in the work of the Council.
47. In view of its importance, the World Economic
Report demanded careful attention by the competent
national administrations; and so he personally would
confine himself to one or two very general remarks
on the problems discussed therein.
48. Outstanding events were taking place throughout
the world at the very moment when the Council was dis
cussing the world economic situation-the celebration
of the tenth anniversary of the signature of the United

Nations Charter at San Francisco, the impending meeting
of the Heads of Government of the Four Powers and the
forthcoming opening of the :first International Confer
ence on the Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy-and,
while the economic situation was one of the more im
portant potential factors in consolidating peace, it was
also extremely sensitive to changes in the international
political situation.

49. At the present moment, the international economic
situation raised a number of important questions.
First of all, the industrialized countries of western Europe
and North America were in a very favourable position,
and their level of economic activity was extremely high.
There was, consequently, a strong expectation that the
European economy, now that it had completely recovered
from the dislocation following the world war, would con
solidate its achievements by a number of fundamental
measures, the most important being the return to conver
tibility, which would have a marked influence on world
economy in general. On the other hand, regions with
a less highly developed economy continued to be seriously
affected by the problems which arose from the unsatis
factory level of their economic activity, both in absolute
terms and in comparison with the more advanced
countries.

50, The economic evolution of the United States of
America since the end of 1953 had been marked by the
fact that, contrary to what had happened before, the
reduction in her economic activity had had very limited
repercussions. That was an encouraging indication
that economic evolution today was based on broader
foundations than the economy, however powerful, of
any particular State.

51. Although that development was very satisfactory,
it must not be forgotten that the problems faced by less
highly developed regions were still serious. For that
reason the Argentine delegation would persist in drawing
the Council's attention to the situation and would examine
the new phase in the evolution of the world economy in
relation to economic development, confident that it was
thus putting the problem in its proper perspective.

52. While there was cause for rejoicing in the favourable
circumstances which had marked 1954 and which augured
well for the future, there was no room for rash optimism
and it would be better to make a general assessment of
the situation.
53. It was certain that the world economy today did not
rest on sufficiently solid foundations either as it stood at
present or as it was likely to develop. Even the expan
sion of the United States economy gave rise to a number
of doubts. The buoyancy of the European economy, as
he had already mentioned, encouraged the hope that
very soon a favourable decision would be taken on the
question of convertibility, a decision which would have
important results for the world economy as a whole.
That situation had been reached partly through the
stimulus of the Marshall Plan and partly because the
solid cultural traditions and high social, technical and
industrial standards of the European countries had
facilitated the rapid achievement of satisfactory results.
54. The problem was different in the less highly de
veloped countries, where most of the factors which had



Economic and Social Council - Twentieth Session90

played a positive role ill the European economic recovery
had a negative effect. The less highly developed coun
tries, with their poorly organized economies, were easily
knocked off balance and could not rely, like the European
countries, on a tradition of economic power. However,
as a result of political and social evolution, there had
been during the last few years a change of attitude in the
less highly developed countries, which had made great
efforts to extend their economic activity in the interests
of their own development. That had brought about the
revision of some old-established ideas and given rise to
various reactions.

55. On the international plane the fundamental factor
in a balanced expansion of the world economy was
international trade, which to fulfil its purpose must,
on the one hand, develop as quickly as possible and, on
the other, repose on a fair basis of give and take, thus
ensuring real advantages for everybody.

56. What had been the experience in 1954 with regard
to the development of international trade?
57. Both the World Economic Report and other docu
ments indicated a favourable situation in which inter
national trade had expanded. Nevertheless, that ex
pansion had not been evenly distributed throughout the
world; on the contrary, there remained many difficulties
and obstacles which restricted the resulting benefits
and in most cases for the less developed countries.

58. If the development of international trade was
analysed merely on the basis of figures, the conclusions
reached were bound to be far removed from reality.
A series of factors, many hardly susceptible of constructive
assessment, must be taken into consideration in forming
an opinion. In particular, any study of the foreign trade
of countries which exported primary commodities should
take account of the fact that the volume of their trade
was determined by their level of exports and not by
the real needs of the countries concerned. Consequently,
changes in the demand for such exports were directly
reflected in such countries' foreign trade. Whereas any
increase in the capacity to import gave rise to an im
mediate expansion of imports, the adaptation neces
sitated by a reduction in that capacity was much more
difficult and usually resulted in disturbing the balance
of payments of the countries concerned. The same fact
lent special significance to price levels in trade between
countries exporting primary commodities, since in present
conditions those levels reflected a trade flow which was
restricted by the factors previously referred to.

fi!J. The representative of the Dominican Republic had
aptly referred to the problem of restrictions. In point
of fact, any restrictive measures that a country in course
of development might apply to its foreign trade, in order
either to ensure adequate priority for those products
which it needed most urgently or to protect its infant
industries, would never be reflected in a reduction of the
volume of its trade, owing to the fact, previously men
tioned, that such measures were always applied under
the pressure of needs to be satisfied which greatly
exceeded the country's purchasing power. On the other
hand, any restriction imposed by more developed COUll

tries on their imports from countries in course of develop
ment reduced those imports and thereby directly reduced

m

the volume of trade in corresponding measure. For
those reasons, as ECLA had rightly pointed out in its report
for the Rio de Janeiro Conference, where trade relations
were concerned between industrial countries and eco
nomically developing countries, due consideration should
be given to such factors in order to establish reciprocity
in real terms.

60. Argentina had followed with interest the negotia
tions which had been proceeding since the end of 195/1
under the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
(GATT) and, although the Argentine Government had
observed that economic development problems had been
fully discussed, it had the impression that the structural
problems of countries in course of development were not
sufficiently taken into account in the proposed reforms,
In other words, the concept of reciprocity in real terms,
to which he had referred, was still not sufficiently taken
into account in the reformed structure of GATT.

61. Although Latin America was ideally situated for the
expansion of regional trade, the present volume of such
trade was infinitesimal and every effort was needed to
encourage its expansion. The problem had been stated
in concrete terms at the Rio de Janeiro Conference and
was now being studied by the regional economic organs;
but it was also necessary to state it in the CounciL In
particular, a careful study should be made of the prac
tical possibilities of introducing a system of regional pre
ferences to assist the expansion of intra-regional trade
in Latin America. Measures of that kind, in con
tributing to the expansion of trade between countries in
the region, would not only be no obstacle to trade be
tween the region and other countries in the world but,
on the contrary, would be a rationalizing factor that
would also help to increase that trade.

62. In Latin America, the greatest attention had been
paid to the possibility of promoting the economic integra
tion of the countries of the American continent. A
specific example was the action taken by Chile, Ecuador,
Paraguay, Bolivia and Argentina in concluding economic
union agreements. Document E/2737, The Quest for
Freer Trade, contained an error in that connexion, since
it stated on page ill that those arrangements had not
become effective. The Economic Union Agreement with
Bolivia had been signed on 9 September 1954. It
contained financial and commercial provisions governing
the exchange of commodities and agreed lists of products
to a value of $9 million in both directions, and had later
been amended to increase the value of the lists
to $10.1 million for both parties. In February 1954,
a trade and payments agreement supplementary to the
Economic Union Treaty had been signed with Chile. In
December 1953, the Economic Union Treaty had been
signed with Ecuador and a trade and payments agree
ment, signed with that country on 22 August 1953, had
been extended; and on 111 August 1953, the Economic
Union Treaty had been signed with Paraguay. The
last-named treaty included two additional trade and
payments clauses on the exchange of goods and lists of
products to an estimated value of $21.5 million on
either side.

63. In international trade, Argentina had, as always,
been closely following the trend of commodity trade

whiet
otinc
61,
signal
mark'

I
unle,s!
c1uslO
05, .
fact t
~ad !
1954,
auets
the c
expor
10 cit
price
lor m
low 11

I

comp
ofma
wheaj
markl
impOl
00, :
prime
bodie
ingly
cultUl
cultUl
Arger
launc
Comn
67, ~

had I

What
that (
bance
ber 0:
ontpu
meas\
ploitil
degre,
effect
and
connt
be ob
Tjllle~

granb
of £2
count
68, ]
extrer
modit
had s
ments
While
diffict
to cc
lllsisti
intern
going
futUrE
Ihose



876th Meeting - 14 July 1955

g measure. For
ed outinitsreport
~re trade relations '
>untries and eco.
Isid~ration shoulQ
:abhsh reciprocilj

~rest the negotia.
~ the end of l~j\ '
'ariffs and TraQ!'
Government han

lroblems had been'
:hat the structural
~lopment were nol
proposed relorml.
city in real term'
: sufficiently taKe~ .
re of GATT.

11Ysituated for tn~ !

nt volume of suc~

ort was needed 10

n had been stated
lro Conference ana
1 economic organ!; :
n the Council. In I

made of the prae·1
em of regional pre·
[ltra-regional traQl,
mt kind, in con.!
~tween countries in ,

itacle to trade~·

in the world but,
alizing factor Inal

lttention had be~n'
~ economic inte~ra.

,can continent. A

by Chile, Ecuador,
:mcluding economil.
37, The QlIesll~11

at connexion, sinei'
angements had 00:
ion Agreement \~l~

ptember 1954. y
'rovisions governm~

~cd lists of producli
tions, and had l~lrl
'alue of the I~l;

In February 1%\..
pplementary. to Ini'

'neel with ChIle. It
'n Treaty had Ofl'
[Id payments agrit
2 August 1953, ha!
t~1~)3, the Econo~:

t h Paraguay. fI~
dclitional trade an:
If goods and lists~:

f S21.5 million c:

ina had, as alwa)i
commodity tra&.,

which, as repeatedly pointed out, was the main source
of income of countries in process of development.
64. It had been stated and re-stated that 1954 had been
signalized by the marked stability of most commodity
markets. However, that judgment was incomplete
unless suitably qualified and might lead to wrong con
clusions.
65. As the Secretary-General had pointed out, the first
fact to be taken into account was that commodity prices
had generally remained at very low levels throughout
1954. That applied in particular to agricultural pro
ducts. The representative of Ecuador had mentioned
the case of coffee. Argentina could mention several
export products-wheat, fodder crops and linseed oil,
to cite only a few. More generally, although no major
price fluctuations had been noted during the past year
for many commodities, account had to be taken of the
low level of those prices, and especially of the fact that
complete uncertainty still prevailed as to the future course
of markets. The surpluses of certain products, including
wheat, though not yet unloaded on the commercial
markets, continued to be a depressing factor of major
importance, and added to the uncertainty.
66. For those reasons the Argentine delegation attached
prime importance to the activities of the international
bodies in regard to commodity problems. The increas
ingly effective work being done by the Food and Agri
culture Organization (FAO) in the specific field of agri
cultural products was noted with satisfaction. The
Argentine Government was especially gratified at the
launching of the work of the Commission on International
Commodity Trade under the Council's aegis.
67. Several speakers, including the Secretary-General,
had referred to the international division of labour.
What he (Mr. Cooke) would like to stress, however, was
that commodity trade was suffering from serious distur
bances as a result of encouragement being given in a num
ber of traditionally importing countries to the increased
output of many products in uneconomic conditions. Such
measures, applied in a whole series of countries by ex
ploiting the economic capacity with which their higher
degree of development endowed them, had the inevitable
effect of substantially reducing international trade
and hence the income of the commodity-exporting
countries. An idea of the extent of those effects could
be obtained from the figures supplied by the Financial
Times, which stated that the agricultural subsidies
granted by the United Kingdom Government to the tune
of £250 million a year would mean a saving to that
country of £400 million of imports.
68. He would like to refer also to another question of
extreme importance-that of the international com
modity agreements. Despite all the efforts made, it
had so far only been possible to conclude three agree
ments, two of which had had a precarious existence,
while the third, that of 1955, had encountered great
difficully in obtaining the necessary ratifications in order
to come into force. Nevertheless, certain countries
~nsisted on concentrating their efforts on that type of
lIl~ernational agreement, while negotiations had been
gOlllg on within GATT for promoting that policy in the
future. Without seeking to interfere or to discourage
those efforts, it was however necessary to draw attention

91

to the meagre results so far obtained and to point out
that no changes were in evidence which suggested a
~ore favourable situation in the future, especially when
It was remembered that the United States, which until
recently .ha~ participated in and encouraged that type
of negobatlOn, had latterly adopted a policy of non
participation in any new agreement.

69. For those reasons Argentina considered that the
existing agencies such as the Commission on Inter
national Commodity Trade and the Committee for
Essential Products of FAO should be utilized for the
exploration of new methods more in line with the actual
possibilities.

70. Special mention should also be made of the Wheat
Agreement. That Agreement would expire in 1956, so
that the time was drawing near for discussing future
action. Argentina was not a party to the Agreement,
but was anxious that any future discussion of the wheat
problem should be carried out on a wide basis and should
be accessible to all interested countries, both producers
and consumers. World trade in wheat was a very
sensitive index of trade in primary products generally.

71. During a period of readjustment, Argentine trade
had followed a favourable course in 1954 as a result of
increased national production and despite the unfavour
able effects of the fall in the prices of agricultural and
livestock products on the international market.

72. The fundamental aim of the Argentine economy
was to promote development and balanced integration;
Argentina had managed to maintain adequate stability,
with the degree of flexibility needed to ensure the con
tinued economic development of the country and the
raising of the people's standard of life. However, all
efforts made by the national economy were gravely
affected by the adverse situation of primary products in
world markets.

73. In effect, the balance of payments for 1954 showed
a favourable net balance of 351 million pesos, as against
1,771 million pesos for the previous year. That was due
to the fact that the total value of exports, in spite of their
increased volume, had been 518 million pesos less than in
1953, principally on account of the fall in agricultural
prices, whereas imports had increased by 390 million
pesos as compared with the year before.

74. Developments so far for 1955 suggested that the
balance of payments for the year would be unfavourably
affected, mainly by the fall in the level 01 international
prices for Argentina's exports, in comparison with prices
for its imports, as well as by the smaller exportable
balance of some of those products, where crops had
suffered through drought.

75. The essential purpose of the United Nations was to
preserve peace and to promote greater international
co-operation so as to improve the living conditions of
the nations, and it had often been said that one of the
most efficient means of attaining those objectives was
through the economic and social progress of the nations.
Argentina fully shared that point of view, and for that
reason her participation in the activities of the United
Nations had been concentrated mainly in the economic
and social fields.



76. Among the great achievements of the United
Nations should be numbered the wide and systematic
surveys it had carried out of the economic and social
problems of the world and the information it had dis
tributed regarding those problems. Although the pro
blems had been studied and analysed before, never, as
in the last ten years, had such balanced, detailed and
reliable information been available as that provided by
the United Nations and its specialized agencies. Begin
ning with the periodical analysis of the world economic
situation, followed by that of the social situation, and
continuing with the study of the multiple problems of
stability and economic development, world trade and
social well-being in their innumerable aspects, the pro
blems of full employment, the planning and financing of
economic development, the problems of food supplies,
work, education and health, the utilization of natural
resources, etc., the United Nations had completed a
wide survey of the problems and the possible remedies
to be employed in their solution. That knowledge had
served to favour the development of international
co-operation in promoting economic and social progress.
The United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the
Technical Assistance Programmes were the most im
portant practical cases of a very valuable form of inter
national co-operation.
77. The results were equally important in many other
spheres: in the fmancing of economic development, for
example, 'the time was approaching when the Inter
national Finance Corporation and the Special United
Nations Fund for Economic Development would begin
work. In the sphere of private capital, it was obvious
that long discussions had ended in more and more
favourable conditions which would very probably lead
in the near future to an increasing international movement
of capital. It had been rightly said that possibilities for
action in the economic sphere would always be limited by
international political developments. The fact was that
at the end of ten years there had been progress which,
although modest, was significant because it proved the
existence of a constant effort to co-operate.

78. Mr. BOERMA (Food and Agriculture Organization
of the United Nations) said that the Secretary-General's
warning that the progress in world economic develop
ment should not be exaggerated applied also to food and
agriculture. Despite the raising of the low output levels
of the immediate post-war period, the world food posi
tion still showed a picture of unequal rates of progress
among different regions and wide disparities in con
sumption standards. For instance, per capita consump
tion of food in the Far East and Latin America was still
below pre-war levels. At the same time in some areas
stocks of certain agricultural commodities had continued
to increase in 1954, with consequent accumulations which
were out of proportion to normal domestic use and export
needs. Measures to reduce production were beginning
to be effective, but there was no certainty that stock
problems would become less acute in the near future.

79. It was a matter for concern that the decrease in the
pressure of surplus supplies had been due rather to
influences on the supply side than to expanded con
sumption. Recognition of the need for raising con
sumption levels was a corner-stone of the policies of the

;T":.- ~~~~~...':::=_=__===__M"~_=_~ '~_I I-:' ;:..__ '.'I~~ Economic and Social Council - Twentieth Session ~

United Nations and the specialized agencies. It was I~ces
only by raising the standard of living of the peoples ! would
concerned-which depended on the degree of success of ~, A
the combined efforts of Governments towards further lural r
economic development-that the poverty of the great tries \\
masses of population in those parts of ~h~ world where as ~ i

consumption levels were low could be ehmmated. naliom
80. The need for raising consumption levels was the I~ai re
basis of FAO's work and had been emphasized in the 'of the
principles of surplus disposal recommended in its report, If):onOl
Disposal of Agricultural Surpluses (Commodity Policy I~oitSl
Studies No. 5), which had been formally accepted by
thirty-four States Members of the United Nations. That !J, M
code of international behaviour stressed the importance t~at a1
of finding constructive new methods for channelling approp
existing surpluses into generally expanded consumption, : ~rbate

particularly thro.ug~ the utilizat~on of supplies ~vailable I' achie~(
on special terms m aid of economlC development III under- remam
developed countries. In that work, survey missions in He felt
potential, recipient countries-such as a pilot survey re- I in th~
cently undertaken in India-played an important part. ~uestlO

81. Although the need for solving the problem of the 'facts 0

disposal of existing surplus stocks was obvious, the more 00, ,GI
basic remedies must be looked for in longer term measures ~o\Vml

for remedying the imbalances of which surpluses were only lielS al
the symptom. FAO was therefore arranging for regular ~rogres

inter-governmental consultation, both on a regional and wggest
on a world-wide basis, with a view to the harmonization econom
of patterns of agricultural consumption and trade. Such ~ere a
consultations on what was termed " selective expansion Import:
of agricultural production and consumption" had been, reserve
or would be, held in the Far East, in the Middle East !hortag
and in Latin America. ~evelof

82. International prices for agricultural products, ~t~~
although not subject to the violent fluctuations of the , en I1

Korean War period, had nevertheless shown some diver- ~,tl~
gence and in recent months there had been signs of weak- I~a y
ness. One of the major factors influencing price levels pn~ar!
was the widespread network of national price support no~es
programmes, and as compared with the 'thirties, the reSlS ~r

direct effects of instability on world markets had to some recest~o
extent been cushioned by such national action. The ~on s
cost of that advantage, however, had been a heavy one temjl€fI
in terms of market rigidities and obstacles to trade; 1

0 a?
and there was still room for improved co-ordination of ransltc
national policies and for international stabilizing measures, il, In

83. In that connexion, FAO had recently been concerned I had be
with the intergovernmental study of possible stabilization full mu
measures for olive oil and rice. With regard to the former, In presl

, would 1a special working party of the FAO Committee on
Commodity Problems had been in action; and, in the case on are
of the latter, the recently published report, The Stabiliza- econom

. into at
tion of the International Trade in Rice (Commodity Pohcy
Studies No. 7), was being studied by the Governments already
concerned. As had been pointed out by the Executive Europe
Secretary of ECAFE, rice was a most important commo- &I, In
dity in the export trade of certain countries in Asia. tinued I
Indeed, in recent years, statistics showed that rice was fOund c
the most valuable of all primary products, surpassing capital
in that respect even coal, crude petroleum and pig iron. ;tillin·
Moreover, more than half the world's population ~e. fi~ance,
pended on rice, both as its main foodstuff and as Its ~nces,

chief source of livelihood. Any success in stabilizing rice . rrcssed·



876th Meeting - 14 July 1955 93

,

l

prices through international co-operation, therefore,
would be a major achievement.
84. Although the development of the world's agricul
tural resources, particularly in the less developed coun~

tries, was of major importance, it should never be regarded
as an aim in itself, but should form part of an over-all
national programme of economic progress. It was for
that reason that FAO was vitally interested in the work
of the Economic and Social Council and the regional
Economic Commissions, with whose endeavours it would
do its utmost to co-operate.

85. Mr. HAMMARSKJOLD (Secretary-General) said
that at the present stage in the discussion it would be
appropriate for him to make some comments. The
debate had centred on three main issues, the recent
achievements of world economy, the problems that
remained to be solved, and the methods of solving them.
He felt that it would be most useful if the Council could
in the future concentrate on the third issue and discuss
questions of policy on a common basis of agreement as to
facts on which decisions had to be based.
86. General satisfaction had been expressed with the
growing economic strength of the world, but most mem
bers appeared to share his view that the scale of the
progress achieved should not be exaggerated. Experience
suggested that a satisfactory equilibrium of the world
economy would not be automatically secured, and there
were at present several unsolved problems of great
importance. First, in spite of some improvement in the
reserve position of the non-dollar world, the world dollar
shortage had still not been overcome. Secondly, under
developed countries had not shared in the general increase
in prosperity and improvement in standards of living.
The discrepancy between their poverty and conditions
in the rest of the world had, in fact, been widened.
Finally, severe fluctuations in the prices of several
primary commodities had been damaging to the eco
nomies based on their production and export. The
resistance of the rest of the world to the United States
recession during the second half of 1953 and the early
months of 1954 was an encouragement; but it must be
tempered by recognition that the response had depended
to an unknown extent on factors which might be
transitory and accidental.

87. In the light of those considerations the appeal which
had been made for gradualism in the achievement of
full multilateralism and convertibility was well justified.
In present world circumstances the most rapid progress
would probably be achieved by finding solutions at first
on a regional basis-provided that they did not injure
economies outside any particular region and were fitted
into a universal framework. Considerable advances had
already been made on those lines, for example, in western
Europe.

88. In under-developed countries some degree of con
tinued protection was called for, and some means must be
found of augmenting step by step the flow of foreign
capital into such areas, whose economic development was
still in the main being hampered by the lack of external
finance, together with fluctuations in primary commodity
prices. During the discussion the hope had been ex
pressed-a hope strongly shared by himself, in view also

of the direct concern of the United Nations in disanna
ment-that improvements in political relations might
make the reduction in armament expenditure possible
and release resources for foreign investment in under
developed areas.

89. It was desirable that the debate in the Council on
the world economic situation should develop into a true
discussion based on give and take. The Secretariat's
responsibility in that respect was very great-because
much would depend on the character of the material it
provided. He was the more alive to that responsibility
because of his firm conviction that the Council should
concern itself more with policy than with economic
facts.
90. It had been said that the World Economic Report
should be more up to date and include at least a brief
summary of events in the current year; that parts I
and II should not be separated, and that domestic
developments inside countries and their international
relations should be discussed together-as the two were
interrelated; and that central problems should be singled
out. From a global point of view such a report would be
particularly helpful to Governments-and, of course,
to the Council. He fully agreed with the observations
and criticisms thus made during the discussion. Indeed,
he and his staff had already carefully considered the
form of future world economic reports. He hoped that
in 1956 the Report would in great measure correspond
to the wishes expressed.
91. As far as information about the current year was
concerned, it would be understood that the preparation
of a document of such importance as the Report, if it was
to be of the proper standard, had to be undertaken some
months before the Council's session; and any later
information could not be analysed in the same manner
as the earlier material. Any important events which
took place alter the Report had been drafted would be
covered, if no other way were feasible, in his own intro
ductory statement.

92. The Secretariat also hoped to avail itself of the
expert knowledge provided by different centres of research
and study so that the Report would more and more reflect
the trends in world discussion of economic problems.

93. Members' observations had been duly noted. Any
specific point could, of course, be discussed directly with
the Secretariat. He would not elaborate further on
any criticism of details, but would seek rather to use
them as a springboard for launching more positive
observations.

94. With regard to the points raised about the first
paragraph on page 12 of the World Eco1Wmic Report
1953-1954, he said that what had been described as
justifying some degree of pessimism had been solely the
fact that dollar reserves and holdings had not increased
more than the special expenditures abroad by the United
States Government. At the end of that criticized para
graph it had been made clear that" a considerable part
of the demand for dollars has been supplied in ways
which do not reflect international equilibrium and cannot
be counted on to continue". The Report reflected the
opinion that the supply of and demand for dollars should
reflect international equilibrium, including capital move-



Economic and Social Council - Twentieth Session94

ments which could be counted on to continue. The
reason for pessimism was that caJ?ital movements at ~he
present time were largely determmed by factors ou.t~1de
the strictly economic field-in other words by pohhcal
considerations which necessarily made them a more or
less extraneous element to a balanced world economy.

95. It had also been suggested that the Report de.alt
rather meagrely with the question of world expanslOn
and investment. He would like to say b'y way of
explanation, though not in defence of the ObvlOusly one
sided character of the supplementary report, The Quest
jor Freer Trade (Ej2737), that its origin had be~n an
agenda item entitled " Removal of o~stac~es to l~ter

national trade and means of deve10pmg lllternahonal
economic relations". The Council under that item had
been specially concerned with the remaining restrictions
-designated by some as artificial-on world trade. As
was frequently the case, that starting point had partly
coloured the presentation.

96. On the other hand, the theme of the introduction to
the World Economic Report was the importance of
balanced economic growth as a'means of achieving freer
trade. It was specifically stated that what was needed
for freer trade was an expanding world economy com
prising all countries, with the hig~lest rate of gro';th
in the areas where levels of produchon and consumptlOn
were lowest. It was further stated: "This discussion of
balanced growth cannot be pursued further i~ the pre:ent
report, but is a subject that deserves extens1ve examllla
tion." The Secretariat planned in the next report to
follow up the present one with a closer study of invest-

.ment expansion and " balanced growth".

97. In that context special reference had been made to
the importance of freedom of movement of capital.
Indeed the lack of it was one of the great obstacles to
world economic expansion. However, it should be re
cognized that the obstacles to capital movements were
largely linked with the circumstances which were reflected
in the present restrictions on trade and were not a separate
phenomenon. He therefore felt that it had been natural,
particularly in view of the historic background to the
Council's discussions, to approach the general 'problem
of economic growth and of the expansion of investments
from the trade angle.

98. Closely related was the suggestion that the Secre
tariat seemed to have been so concerned with the removal
of obstacles as to under-estimate the valid reasons for
which countries might apply various types of protectionist
measures. He did not believe that in reality there was
any disagreement between its critics and the Secretariat
itself. There was a special section at the beginning of
the introduction to the Report emphasizing the legitimate
national objectives of trade restrictions and discussing
under-developed countries in detail. The problem had
been defined as that of taking practical steps which would
not undennine the legitimate national objectives of trade
restrictions. In the circumstances there should be a
general awareness of the need for what had been de
scribed as "gradualism". It was a question not of the
immediate abolition of any particular restriction, but of
a progressive adjustment towards the ideal of the greatest
possible freedom of trade, with proper safeguards for the

Printed in Swi tzerIand

,n

protection of legitimate national interests in expansion
and in other respects.
99. The reasons for measures of protection which were
at least temporary obstacles to trade were very fully
understood-perhaps too well-and there was no need
to elaborate them; whereas it seemed necessary to do
so about the arguments for freer trade. There seemed
to be some law of gravitation pulling in the direction of
protectionism which had to be counteracted.
100. It had been said that the statements in the Report
about possible abu~es of protecti~e measures mi,ght be
misunderstood. Bnefly commentmg on that pomt, he
said that the ten post-war years provided examples of
abuses most of which arose not in connexion 'with the
introduction of the measure, but when it had been in
operation for too long and. had come .t~ form part of a
fixed pattern instead of belllg a ~rans1t10~al measure to
carry over a national or the mternatlOnal economy
through a difficult period. That was the reason for the
warning sounded in the Report and also for the need for
very careful national planning so that steps could be
taken as soon as measures of protection began to be
dangerous. Few countries in the world could afford to
maintain them at the stage when they tended to lead
to an uneconomical use of resources. Such planning
was not only valuable, but just alii essential from the
national as from the international point of view.
101. One of the main themes of the discussion had been
stability versus growth, and it also constituted one of
the underlying problems dealt with in th~ Report. So:ne
speakers had manifested a fear, and 1t was nothing
more than a fear, that in the natural concern with
stability-a concern which the Secretariat, representing
as it did, the international point of view, was boun? to
reflect in its work-the importance of growth m1ght
have been overlooked. Again, he felt there was no real
difference of opinion. The Secretariat believed that
both stability and growth were essential and could be
very well combined if policy were conducted in a re
sponsible manner. In fact the terms used in the debate
such as It dynamic equilibrium" and It s.table gr.owth"
indicated that it was recognized as qUlte poss1ble. to
reconcile the two conceptions. Governments were facmg
here mainly a question of method. It should not be
forgotten that in fact instability might threaten growth,
Thus it was not only a matter of reconciling the two, but
also of defending stability in the very interests of growth,
which was the primary concern of all. Otherwise, efforts
towards expansion might be self-defeating.
102. After a most rich debate his observations were
necessarily a little diffuse and he therefore asked for the
Council's indulgence. In conclusion, he thanked all
members for their comments, which had been most
helpfUl to the Secretariat in its effort to provide Mem~er
States with documents of an increasingly high quahty,
The comments had drawn attention both to weaknesses
in the presentation of facts and to arguments. On. the
other hand, the area of agreement as to the analys1s of
the problems facing the world was very wide indeed.

103. The PRESIDENT thanked the Secretary-General
for his illuminating statement.

The meeting rose at 6.20 p.m.

16924-July 1955-1,350

a
A
n

1
A
S
11

a
d
11

V

C
d
a
a
b
si
P
11

v




